IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0414

IN THE MATTER OF

T.K.B,

A Youth in Need of Care

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District, Yellowstone County, the Honorable Michael G. Moses, Presiding.

Appearances:

SHANNON HATHAWAY
Hathaway Law Group
401 Washington St
Missoula, MT 59802
Phone: (406) 201-9660
Shannon@hathaway-lawgroup.com

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
KATHRYN FEY SCHULZ
Assistant Attorney General
Appellate Services Bureau
215 N. Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59820-1401

SCOTT TWITO Yellowstone County Attorney P.O. Box 35025 Billings, MT 59107

Attorney for Appellant and Father, H.E.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

- I. Whether the Department failed to provide reasonable efforts to reunify

 Father and the child when the Department failed to provide adequate

 communication or referrals for services.
- II. Whether the District Court erred when it concluded that Father's conduct was unlikely to change within a reasonable time when the Department filed its Termination Petition less than six months after approving Father's treatment plan.
- III. Whether Father received ineffective assistance of counsel when Father's original counsel failed to communicate with him.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

H.E. (Father) appeals Yellowstone County District Court's (District Court)

Order terminating his parental rights to his two-year-old child, T.K.B. (D.C. Doc. 74.) The Department of Child and Family Services (hereinafter "Department")

filed its Petition for Adjudication as Youth in Need of Care (YINC), and

Temporary Legal Custody (TLC) on May 24, 2021, due to concerns of physical neglect by M.B. (Mother.) (D.C. Doc 2.) The Department's Petition alleges that on May 17, 2021, the Department received a report that Mother was falling asleep with her newborn T.K.B. in her arms and not picking up on his cues. Child Protection Specialist (CPS) Breanna Riesen responded to the hospital to meet with

staff regarding the report, staff stated they worried Mother did not have the necessary coping skills to care for the baby once home. T.K.B. was born prematurely at 37 weeks gestation and needed an extra level of care, which included supervising his blood sugar before feeding. Staff stated they asked Mother multiple times to alert staff before feeding T.K.B., but she refused despite being educated on the importance of assessing T.K.B.'s blood sugar prior to being fed. (D.C. Doc 2.)

Staff also voiced concerns that Mother would be unable to attend the needed doctors' appointments that T.K.B. would require being born at 37 weeks. (D.C. Doc 2.) The Department also had concerns regarding Mother's extensive Department history and Mother's open criminal investigation into the death of her daughter R.E. who was smothered in the night when Mother co-slept. After consulting with Child Protective Specialist Supervisor (CPSS) Shelby Goodman, CPS Riesen notified Mother and filed a motion for TLC for T.K.B. (D.C. Doc 2.)

On May 24, 2021, the Department filed its Petition for Adjudication of Youth in Need of Care and a petition for Temporary Legal Custody. (D.C. Doc. 1.) A day later, the District Court ordered a Show Cause Hearing on the matter to be held on June 16, 2021, which was continued until August 11, 2021. (D.C. Docs. 5 and 8.)

On August 11, 2021, the Show Cause hearing was held. (D.C. Doc. 22.) Mother and Father were not present at the Hearing, but their respective counsel, Guardian Ad Litem Fred Snodgrass, and CPS Riesen were present. At the Hearing the Department motioned to amend its Petition from requesting TLC to requesting Temporary Investigative Authority (TIA.) All parties stipulated the continuance of Emergency Protective Services (EPS) and the Department's Petition for TIA. (D.C. Doc. 22.)

On August 28, 2021, the Department filed its Petition for Adjudication of YINC after the Department received a report that Mother allegedly engaged in a physical altercation when T.K.B. and his half-brother were present and witnessed the entire event. (D.C. Doc. 25.) The victim's daughter was knocked to the ground, hurting her elbow and hitting her head. CPS Riesen received a call from Deputy Shaffer from the Yellowstone County Sheriff's Department on August 18, 2021, stating that Mother had been arrested for assault on a minor and she would be going to jail on the assault charge. The Department was unable to locate T.K.B. for two days; once T.K.B. was located on August 20, 2021, he was placed in licensed foster care. Mother asked if Father could be a placement for T.K.B., and the Department advised her that since Father was not T.K.B.'s Birth Certificate, he would need to take a paternity test. The Department had no reason to believe

T.K.B. was an Indian Child as defined by the Indian Child Welfare Act (ICWA); therefore ICWA did not apply. (D.C. Doc. 25.)

On August 30, 2021, the District Court ordered an Adjudication/Disposition and Treatment Plan Hearing to be held on October 20, 2021, which was continued until December 1, 2021. (D.C. Docs. 26 and 31.) On October 4, 2021, CPSS Goodman called Father to let him know she received the results of his paternity test, which stated he was the biological father of T.K.B. (D.C. Docs. 33 and 40.) During the call, Father inquired when T.K.B could be placed with him. (D.C. Doc. 40.) CPSS Goodman advised Father that to be a placement for T.K.B., Father would need to make sure he had everything he needed for a baby, his home would need to be safe and appropriate, he needed to build a bond with T.K.B., and address the concerns of domestic violence between him and Mother. The call escalated when Father became frustrated that he could not be placement and handed the phone to his grandmother A.R. Unbeknownst to Father, A.R. and CPSS Goodman were familiar with each other from prior unrelated cases. (3/8/23 Hearing Tr. 93:13-25, 94:5-23.) A.R. became aggressive with CPSS Goodman, at which point CPSS Goodman ended the call. (D.C. Doc. 40.)

The Department filed proposed treatment plans for Mother and Father on October 6, 2021. (D.C. Docs 28 and 29.) At the Adjudication/Disposition hearing, all parties were present and stipulated to the Department's Petition. The court

adjudicated T.K.B. as a YINC and granted TLC to the Department for six months. (D.C. Doc. 32.)

On October 13, 2021, CPSS Goodman texted Father that he would receive a referral for visitation and that someone would reach out to him to schedule visits. (D.C. Doc 40.) CPSS Goodman also requested that he set up a time to meet with her at the Department. Father did not respond. On October 27, 2021, Father went to the Department to sign his necessary releases and voiced concern over the fact T.K.B. wasn't placed with him after he was told he would be once paternity was established. Father's began visitation with T.K.B. through RE Services in December of 2021. (D.C. Doc 40.)

Mother and Father's Treatment Plan Hearing was held on January 12, 2022; all parties aside from Father were present. Mother signed the treatment plan, and Father's counsel had no basis to object. Father's treatment plan was approved on January 12, 2022, and filed by the Department on March 24, 2022. (D.C. Docs 35 and 37.) Father's Treatment plan required Father to contact the CPS worker to determine his parenting intentions, enroll in an approved parenting class, attend visitation with T.K.B., complete SafeCare, complete an anger and domestic violence risk assessment, confirm paternity, meet with his assigned CPS worker to review his progress, alert CPS and counsel of any change in contact information,

and obtain and maintain appropriate safe housing and a legal source of income. (D.C. Doc. 37.)

On February 10, 2022, Father's family advocate from RE Services reached out to the Department to help Father work on his treatment plan. RE Services explained that Father was short on cash and needed gas cards from the Department to make it to all his appointments. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 166:1-3.) The Department refused to provide any financial assistance and told Father that if he required help, he needed to contact the Department directly. (D.C. Doc. 37.)

On June 28, 2022, less than 6 months after Father's treatment plan had been approved, the Department filed its Petition for Termination. (D.C. Doc. 39) On June 29, 2022, the District Court ordered a Termination Hearing to be held on September 21, 2022. (D.C. Doc 41.) A few weeks later, on July 13, 2022, CPSS Goodman filed an Affidavit requesting a Permanency Hearing. (D.C. Doc. 43.) In CPSS Goodman's Affidavit she wrongfully asserted that "...[Father] has not engaged in his treatment plan and has made no attempts to engage with the Department throughout the life of the case." (D.C. Doc. 43 at 3:1-3.) This statement was a misrepresentation when CPSS Goodman acknowledged in her earlier Affidavit that on October 27, 2021, Father attempted to speak with someone at the Department regarding his case. (D.C. Doc. 40.) Additionally, CPSS Goodman's earlier Affidavit also supported that Father had engaged in his

treatment plan to the best of his ability given the lack of referrals and outreach. (Id.) Father had complied with many tasks on his treatment plan but with regard to his housing, CPSS Goodman never followed up to do a home visit. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 165:12-25, 170:4-15, D.C. Doc 40.)

On July 14, 2022, the District Court ordered the Permanency Hearing to be held on August 10, 2022. (D.C. Doc 45.) At the Permanency Hearing, all parties were present, and the court approved the Department's permanency plan. (D.C. Doc. 47.) On September 6, 2022, Kingston Small was reassigned as counsel for Father. (D.C. Doc 49.) The Termination Hearing began on September 21, 2022, and all parties were present. Michael Sullivan was the only witness heard that day, he testified regarding his anger assessment of Mother. (D.C. Doc. 50.) Father's attorney asked Mr. Sullivan if he was familiar with Father or had received a referral to work with him; Mr. Sullivan stated he only knew of Father by name but had not received a referral, nor was he scheduled to work with him. (9/21/22 Hearing Tr. 42:18-23.)

Day two of the Termination Hearing, initially scheduled for November 4, 2022, was reset to December 5, 2022. (D.C. Doc 53.) On day two, five witness provided testimony: Payton Livengood, who was Father's first family advocate at RE Services; Debra Dalke, who worked with Mother during her supervised

visitation; Candance Dozhier, who worked with Mother coordinating visits at the Department; and finally, Mother and Father also took the stand. (D.C. Doc. 60.)

Ms. Livengood testified that she worked with Father from April to October 2022. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 8:8-12.) During the five months she worked with Father she stated that he would leave his visits 15 minutes early, which made coordinating transportation difficult, but "...[Father] got better towards the end of my time doing visitation with him." (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 12:13-21.) Ms. Livengood also stated that the concerns she worked with Father on revolved around having age-appropriate expectations of T.K.B. and speaking appropriately to him. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 13:20-25, 14:9-15, 15:6-11.) Ms. Livengood testified that she addressed these issues within the Nurturing Parenting class, and "...it did seem that [Father] worked on that after the -- after the visits that we did with that." (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 15:14-16.) At the end of her testimony, Ms. Livengood indicated that despite her concerns, Father was very good with attendance, and when she addressed concerns with Father, she felt they would be fixed. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 23:22-25, 28:6-9.)

The testimony from Debra Dalke and Candance Dozhier focused on Mother's involvement in the case; both witnesses were not familiar with Father. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 33-106.) The court took a short recess, and then Father took the stand. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 108:2-10.) At the beginning of his testimony,

Father was questioned about his six other children and his relationship with them. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 109:1-4.) Father testified he was on good terms with his children, and this was the only instance where he needed to be involved with the courts. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 111:8-9.) Father was then questioned about his relationship with Mother; Father stated that aside from T.K.B., they had shared another child, R.E., who was smothered in the night when Mother co-slept. (D.C. Doc. 2, 12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 126:3-22.) Their relationship was off and on, but at the time of his testimony, they were "...just trying to work things out for [their] kids." (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 126:21-22.)

When asked about conflict in his and Mother's relationship, Father stated that they did not argue; most of the conflict stemmed from issues between Mother and the mothers of his other children. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 127:14-24.) Father was arrested in 2020 for partner family member assault (PFMA) where Mother was the victim. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 128:11-20.) Father maintained throughout his testimony that while he pled guilty to the charge, the altercation between him and Mother was verbal. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 133:19-25.)

Father was then questioned about his treatment plan; he voiced concerns about no one responding to him the numerous times he reached out to the Department. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr.149:17-23.) Father repeatedly testified that he never got referrals and was confused about what he needed to do: "I never got a

referral to safe care. That's what I'm saying or anger management...Only thing I have was visiting for almost six, seven months. Then I started getting parenting classes." (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 161:4-8.) Father also stated he relied on RE Services to help him with his treatment plan because he wasn't getting responses or support from the Department. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 169:2-6.)

Father reached out to the Department in Helena and his original attorney, Cory Harman, multiple times to figure out what he needed to get done. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 186:13-25, 187:10-19.) Father stated Mr. Harman never explained his treatment plan to him and told Father he should have received the plan when he was in jail. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 187:20-25.) Father received approximately 1500 papers in jail from this case, his PFMA with Mother, and the investigation into the death of R.E. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 188:1-18.) At the time of this Hearing, Father had not received a referral for a domestic violence assessment or SafeCare. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 202:8-25.)

At the end of his testimony, Father stated that his preferred placement for T.K.B. was with his younger sister T.D.L.S. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 213:5-9.) After Father was finished, Mother took the stand and testified to her history with the Department and her other children. (12/5/22 Hearing Tr. 251:3-5.) Mother did not complete her testimony, and the Hearing was continued to January 4, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 64.)

At the original date set for day three of the Termination Hearing, all parties were present aside from Ms. Watson on behalf of the state, who had fallen ill. (1/4/23 Hearing Tr. 7:5-14.) The Department moved for a continence. (Id.) There was no objection to a continuance, but Mr. Small, Father's attorney, did provide an update to the court. (1/4/23 Hearing Tr. 7:20-24.) After the last Hearing CPSS Goodman reached out to Mr. Small and established the steps necessary for Father to complete his treatment plan. (1/4/23 Hearing Tr. 8:2-4.) Father completed his anger evaluation, set up SafeCare, and CPSS Goodman completed a walkthrough of his home. (1/4/23 Hearing Tr. 8:5-8.) The court then reset day three of Termination Hearing for March 8, 2023, and set day four for March 9, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 64.)

On March 8, 2023, the third day of the Termination Hearing, Mother took the stand and continued her testimony from day two. (3/8/22 Hearing Tr. 10:10-13.) The first half of Mother's testimony focused on her relationship with her other child's father and her assault charge. (3/8/22 Hearing Tr. 10-34.) Mother testified that the Department treated Father differently due to his Family's involvement with the Department, specifically with CPSS Goodman. (3/8/22 Hearing Tr. 55:7-23.) Mother expressed concerns regarding the father of her other child but felt like those concerns were "pushed under the rug" whereas with Father reports were "...blown out into bigger things than what it was..." (3/8/22 Hearing Tr. 55:12-

21.) The Hearing concluded, and the court set day five of the Termination Hearing for April 19, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 68.)

On March 9, 2023, all parties were present on day four of the Termination Hearing. (D.C. Doc. 69.) Four witnesses took the stand: Shannon Johnston, who worked with Mother on SafeCare; Wendy Bulkley, who supervised visitation with Mother; Elizabeth Gregory, who was Father's family advocate at RE Services after Payton Livengood left; and Michael Sullivan, who completed Father's evaluations. (Id.)

Shannon Johnston and Wendy Bulkley were unfamiliar with Father and only worked with Mother. Ms. Gregory, Father's family advocate at RE Services, stated that Father was doing well in September 2022, but she saw a huge improvement in Father's parenting style starting in November 2022. (3/9/23 Hearing Tr. 118:12-23.) She stated that Father showed up to almost every visit well prepared and appeared more comfortable "[Father] plays on the floor. He sings song. He makes sound effects with the toys. He is very playful with [T.K.B.]" (3/9/23 Hearing Tr. 110:1-22.) She also testified that Father and T.K.B. appeared to be bonded. (3/9/23 Hearing Tr. 117:7-18.)

The last witness of the day, Mr. Sullivan, testified to Father's anger evaluation results. (3/9/23 Hearing Tr. 170:13-24.) Part of Mr. Sullivan's evaluation addressed Father's alleged criminal charge: "[Father] denied exchanging

marijuana for sex, denied sex with the alleged victim, but did report having given marijuana to the 15-year-old girl." (3/9/23 Hearing Tr. 176:7-19.) Mr. Sullivan testified that based on the evaluation results, he concluded that Father had poor judgment, awareness, and an unhealthy level of denial. (3/9/23 Hearing Tr. 179:3-112.) Mr. Sullivan recommended individual therapy with someone skilled in working with individuals around interpersonal violence, a chemical dependency evaluation, and continued parenting classes. (3/9/23 Hearing Tr. 194:23-25, 195:1-6.)

On April 19, 2023, the final day of the Termination Hearing took place.

(D.C. Doc. 71.) All parties were present, and five witnesses testified: CPSS

Goodman from the Department; Kelly Ogger, who was Mother's therapist; Mother;

T.D.L.S. Father's younger sister; and Father.

CPSS Goodman took the stand and recounted her involvement with the case. She testified that Father had started SafeCare and walked the court through her first phone call with Father. CPSS Goodman testified that during the call where she told Father DNA results came back proving he was the father; he became aggressive once he was told T.K.B. would not be placed with him immediately. (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 56:21-24, 60:12-25.) Father then gave his grandmother the phone, and she began threatening CPSS Goodman. CPSS Goodman testified that she hung up the phone, then after staffing with her supervisor, "it was determined that given the

violence and the outburst and the anger that all communication would go through his attorney." (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 61:1-19.) She also testified that she did not think either parent had addressed the issues leading to removal. (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 79:8-11.) Her main concerns with Father's fitness were the issues raised in Mr. Sullivan's evaluation and his pending criminal charges. (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 79:13-25, 80:1-7.) CPSS Goodman testified that she believed it was in the best interests of T.K.B. to be adopted by his placement and parental rights to be terminated. (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 82:6-23.)

Kelly Ogger and Mother took the stand and testified about Mother's mental health and visitation. Father's younger sister then briefly took the stand and testified that she was a licensed foster care provider and was willing to be a placement for T.K.B. (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 212:9-11.)

Finally, Father took the stand and gave an update on where he was with his treatment plan. (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 214:1-4.) Father testified that he was on part two of SafeCare, regularly attended visits, and had a better relationship with CPSS Goodman. (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 214:5-8, 217:2-15, 218:9-11.) Father also engaged in individual therapy for a session before there was a conflict and he could no longer see the therapist; but had not received an additional referral for a new therapist. (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 222:21-25, 223:1-4.)

Father also testified that he rarely spoke with his first attorney, Mr. Harman, and was unaware that communications with the Department went through him. (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 223:13-25.) Father stated that for the first part of the case, he navigated the system by calling RE Services or going to addresses he was given in court because he was not receiving communications from the Department. (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 224:16-25, 225:1-23.) Father expressed frustration with receiving his SafeCare, anger evaluation, and other referrals so late in the case. (4/19/23 Hearing Tr. 236:24-25, 237:1-4.)

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