IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0414

IN THE MATTER OF:

T.K.B. and N.Z.B.,

Youths in Need of Care.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court,
Yellowstone County, The Honorable Michael G. Moses, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
BJORN BOYER
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
bjorn.boyer@mt.gov

SCOTT TWITO
Yellowstone County Attorney
LAURA WATSON
Deputy County Attorney
217 N. 27th Street, Room 701
P.O. Box 35025
Billings MT 59107

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
AND APPELLEE

LAURA REED
P.O. Box 17437
Missoula, MT 59808

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Although Mother asked the Department and Growing Together for in-home visits during her pregnancy with L.E., she never objected, and only brought the issue to the attention of the district court at the termination hearing. Mother’s reference to the issue at the termination hearing, without any argument that the Department had violated Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Rehabilitation Act), was insufficient to preserve the argument for appeal.

Even if she had preserved the argument, it is without merit. First, Mother has failed to show that her pregnancy qualified as a disability under the Rehabilitation Act. Second, regardless of whether her pregnancy was a disability or not, the

Department was required to take her pregnancy into consideration in implementing her treatment plan. Here, the Department and its service providers tried to accommodate Mother's pregnancy, first by requesting additional information related to her pregnancy restrictions and then by providing her with video visits. Finally, Mother's missed visits while she claimed to be on bedrest were not counted against her. Instead, Mother continuously missed visits, both before and after her bedrest period, which led to her termination from Growing Together. Throughout the case, the Department and its providers made herculean efforts to work with Mother. Mother's claims that the Department discriminated against her because of her pregnancy are without merit.

Mother has not met her burden of showing she received ineffective assistance of counsel. Mother's contention that her attorney did not consult with any experts is mere speculation. Furthermore, Mother's counsel called Ogger as an expert witness, who was a therapist Mother had found herself without Department help. Ogger concurred in Sullivan's findings and began treating Mother for the issues Sullivan identified. Mother's counsel was not deficient for failing to expert shop until he could find a third expert to contradict Sullivan and Ogger.

The district court's finding that Mother's conduct or condition was unlikely to change was not clearly erroneous. Mother had almost three years to work with the Department related to N.B.'s case and almost two years related to T.B.'s case.

During that time, Mother was inconsistent with visitations, failed to complete her SafeCare class, failed to implement the lessons she had learned, and failed to remedy Sullivan’s concerns through her therapy with Ogger. Ogger could not opine on how long it would take Mother to be a safe parent. The children deserved permanency and could not be expected to wait on Mother’s timeline. Despite ample opportunity, Mother could not demonstrate that her conduct or condition would change within a reasonable amount of time. The district court did not err by terminating Mother’s parental rights.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review

This Court reviews a district court’s evidentiary rulings and its decision to terminate parental rights for abuse of discretion. *In re D.D.*, 2021 MT 66, ¶ 9, 403 Mont. 376, 482 P.3d 1176. A court abuses its discretion if it terminates parental rights based on clearly erroneous findings of fact or conclusions of law, or otherwise acts arbitrarily, without employment of conscientious judgment, or exceeds the bounds of reason, resulting in substantial injustice. *D.D.*, ¶ 9. “A factual finding is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by substantial evidence, if the court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or if review of the record

convinces the Court a mistake was made.” *In re A.B.*, 2020 MT 64, ¶ 23, 399 Mont. 219, 460 P.3d 405.

II. Mother failed to preserve her argument that the Department and its providers violated pregnancy discrimination laws; however, even if preserved, the argument lacks merit.

A. Mother waived her argument by not objecting to the Department’s actions in the district court.

Generally, this Court will not address arguments raised for the first time on appeal. *In re C.B.*, 2019 MT 294, ¶ 14, 398 Mont. 176, 454 P.3d 1195. This court may review unpreserved claims of error under the plain error doctrine, but will not do so when the appellant first requests plain error review in her reply brief. *State v. Beaudet*, 2014 MT 152, ¶ 18, 375 Mont. 295, 326 P.3d 1101.

A parent waives the right to argue on appeal that a treatment plan was inappropriately ordered or implemented if the parent does not object to the treatment plan in the district court. *In re T.S.*, 2013 MT 274, ¶ 25, 372 Mont. 79, 310 P.3d 538. In *T.S.*, the father argued for the first time on appeal that the treatment plan had not appropriately considered his hearing disability. *T.S.*, ¶ 27. The father had stipulated to the plan and had not objected to the propriety of the plan in the district court. *Id.* Instead, he only raised the issue with the Department workers a week or two before the termination hearing. *Id.* This Court held that “[i]f the Father believed his hearing impairment was impeding his treatment, he could

have objected to his treatment plan either at its inception or when the issue arose.”

Id. The father waived the argument when he failed to object to the issues with his treatment plan in a timely manner in the district court. *T.S.*, ¶ 25.

Here, Mother stipulated to both treatment plans. In approximately March or April 2022, while Mother was pregnant with L.E., she requested the Department provide her in-home visitations with N.B. and T.B. Previously, when Mother was pregnant with T.B., the Department accommodated a similar request by allowing in-home visits with N.B. However, during L.E.’s pregnancy, Johnston refused, citing Mother’s vague doctor’s note and concerns about liability.

Despite Mother raising the issue with Johnston and the Department, she did not raise a timely objection with the district court. She first complained about the issue at her termination hearing, almost a year after L.E. was born—long after the court could have provided her with a remedy. Mother certainly never objected on the basis she now argues on appeal, that the Department’s actions violated the Rehabilitation Act. Mother never provided the district court with an opportunity to assess the propriety of the treatment plan or the Department’s manner of implementing the plan. Pursuant to *T.S.*, she has waived the argument on appeal.

///

B. The Department did not fail to consider Mother’s pregnancies in developing and implementing her treatment plan.

1. Mother has failed to show a reasonable accommodation was necessary under the Rehabilitation Act.

On appeal, Mother argues that “while pregnancy itself is not a disability, medical issues resulting from pregnancy can qualify as a disability under [the Rehabilitation Act].” (Appellant’s Brief (Br.) at 17.) Mother fails to cite any legal authority for this position. (*See id.*) Citation to legal authority is required by M. R. App. P. 12(1)(g). “It is the appellant’s burden to establish error by a district court and such error cannot be established in the absence of legal authority.” *State v. Bailey*, 2004 MT 87, ¶ 26, 320 Mont. 501, 87 P.3d 1032. Furthermore, “it is not this Court’s obligation to conduct legal research on appellant’s behalf, to guess as to [her] precise position, or to develop legal analysis that may lend support to [her] position.” *In re Estate of Bayers*, 1999 MT 154, ¶ 19, 295 Mont. 89, 983 P.2d 339.

Mother has failed to provide any legal support that her pregnancy qualified as a “disability” requiring “reasonable accommodations” under the Rehabilitation Act. (*See Br.* at 16-17.) It is neither the Department’s duty, nor this Court’s obligation, to provide legal support for Mother’s conclusory argument. Therefore, her argument fails.

Mother's position also fails on its merits. In order to state a claim for disability discrimination under the Rehabilitation Act, a plaintiff must allege: "(1) [she] is an 'individual with a disability'; (2) [she] is 'otherwise qualified' to receive the benefit; (3) [she] was denied the benefits of the program solely by reason of [her] disability; and (4) the program receives federal financial assistance." *Weinreich v. L.A. Cnty. Metro. Transp. Auth.*, 114 F.3d 976, 978 (9th Cir. 1997) (quoting 29 U.S.C. § 794). Under the Rehabilitation Act, "disability" is defined as "a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more of the major life activities of such individual" *Walton v. U.S. Marshals Serv.*, 492 F.3d 998, 1005 (9th Cir. 2007) (citing 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2)).

Here, Mother has not shown she had a "disability." Even if complications from a pregnancy could meet the definition of a "disability" under some circumstances, Mother has not met that burden here. First, Mother did not provide evidence that she was on bedrest and required in-home services. She only had a doctor's note stating she was excused from work. Second, Mother must show her physical impairment "substantially" limited a "major life activity." *Walton*, hn.1. The doctor's note provided by Mother only restricted her ability to work for a limited amount of time. Mother apparently obtained the note in March 2022 and delivered T.B. only two months later, in May 2022. Even if her ability to work was

a “major life activity,” the limited amount of time she was ordered to miss work before delivery was transient and not a substantial limitation.

Moreover, even if Mother met the definition of being disabled and, therefore, qualified for a benefit, she has failed to show that the Department denied her the benefit solely by reason of her disability. Rather, Johnston testified that she refused to offer in-home visitation to Mother because Mother had not identified the limitations of her bedrest. Johnston did not know whether Mother could lift, play with her children, or even get out of bed. Johnston was understandably concerned about requiring Mother to do those things during an in-home visit if they could cause Mother injury and invite a lawsuit against Growing Together.

At first, Johnston only sought clarification on Mother’s abilities, which Mother never provided. Neither the Department nor Johnston refused Mother services because of her pregnancy but, instead, only delayed providing the services until Mother could provide additional information. Mother has failed to show that the Department was required to provide her a reasonable accommodation under federal law.

2. Mother has not shown the Department failed to take her pregnancies into consideration in implementing the treatment plan.

A parent’s treatment plan “must ‘take[] into consideration the particular problems facing both the parent and the child.’” *In re K.L.N.*, 2021 MT 56, ¶ 17,

403 Mont. 342, 482 P.3d 650 (citation omitted). If a parent is disabled, the treatment plan must consider the parent’s disability and be “customized to meet those particular needs.” *Id.* (quoting *In re X.M.*, 2018 MT 264, ¶ 19, 393 Mont. 210, 429 P.3d 920).

In *K.L.N.*, the mother argued the Department failed to provide her with reasonable accommodations required by the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA) and the Rehabilitation Act. *K.L.N.*, ¶ 23. This Court emphasized that the Department must make reasonable accommodations for parents with disabilities in the reunification services and programs it provides. *K.L.N.*, ¶ 25. However, the requirements of the ADA “to provide reasonable accommodations are consistent with—and generally subsumed within—the requirements of Title 41, chapter 3, MCA, to provide reasonable efforts and to develop an appropriate treatment plan.” *Id.* “In other words, if the Department fails to take into account a parent’s limitations or disabilities and make reasonable accommodations, then it did not develop an appropriate treatment plan or make reasonable efforts to reunite the family.” *Id.*

More generally, “[t]he department shall make reasonable efforts to . . . reunify families that have been separated by the state.” Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-423(1)(a). “[R]easonable efforts’ means the department shall in good faith develop and implement voluntary services agreements and treatment plans that are

designed to preserve the parent-child relationship and the family unit and shall in good faith assist parents in completing voluntary services agreements and treatment plans.” Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-423(1)(b)(i).

“Reasonable efforts” do not require “herculean efforts,” and “each case must be evaluated on its own facts.” *In re A.G.*, 2016 MT 203, ¶ 17, 384 Mont. 361, 378 P.3d 1177 (quoting *In re K.L.*, 2014 MT 28, ¶ 41, 373 Mont. 421, 318 P.3d 691). In evaluating the totality of the circumstances to determine if the Department made reasonable efforts, the district court may consider the entire history of the case, even facts that predate the current action. *In re B.N.Y.*, 2006 MT 34, ¶ 25, 331 Mont. 145, 130 P.3d 594.

The determination of whether the Department made reasonable efforts to reunify is not a finding the district court is required to make separate from the finding that a parent’s conduct or condition is unlikely to change within a reasonable time. *In re C.M.*, 2019 MT 227, ¶ 22, 397 Mont. 275, 449 P.3d 806. Rather, “a conclusion that a parent is unlikely to change could be called into question if the Department failed to make reasonable efforts to assist the parent.” *Id.* On the other hand, “a parent’s unlikelihood of change may well be unaffected by the Department’s efforts” and the reasonable efforts requirement “does not replace the two-prong statutory inquiry mandated by § 41-3-609(1)(f), MCA.” *Id.* (quoting *In re D.B.*, 2007 MT 246, ¶ 25, 339 Mont. 240, 1698 P.3d 691).

Here, even if Mother's pregnancy did not qualify as a "disability," the Department was still required to consider her pregnancies while implementing the treatment plan. In this case, the Department made herculean efforts to get Mother to comply with her treatment plan. However, Mother was more interested in fighting with the Department than she was in making progress with her parenting.

During Mother's pregnancy with T.B., the Department provided Mother with in-home visitation. Mother did not request in-home visitation during her pregnancy with L.E. until the last two months of her pregnancy. The Department asked Johnston to provide in-home services. However, Johnston understandably refused, asking Mother to provide a more detailed doctor's note. Importantly, Johnston's refusal was conditional. She never expressed a blanket refusal to provide the service but, rather, made a reasonable request of Mother to provide a doctor's note indicating her limitations. Mother never obtained the note.

Furthermore, Johnston and the Department had reason to doubt Mother needed an accommodation at all. Contrary to her request for in-home services, Mother spoke openly about going out shopping. Mother also asked Goodman to allow N.B. and T.B. to accompany her to the trampoline park. That visit occurred approximately two weeks prior to L.E.'s birth. Mother's request for in-home services due to a bedrest restriction did not appear to be a genuine need.

Nevertheless, Johnston and Goodman attempted to accommodate Mother with services while awaiting the doctor's note. Johnston offered video visitation with the children, which Mother only took advantage of one time. Accordingly, the Department made reasonable efforts. Mother simply did not take advantage of the Department's efforts to provide her with services.

Furthermore, Johnston did not count any of the missed visits between the in-home services request and L.E.'s birth against Mother. Mother missed four visits prior to the request and an additional seven after L.E.'s birth. The period between April and May 2022, was not counted in those missed visits. Johnston terminated Mother from Growing Together services due to the multiple missed visits that occurred either before or after Mother had claimed a need for in-home visits.

In her opening brief, Mother states that she was "pregnant during most of the case." (Br. at 18.) Although she delivered two children during the pendency of the case and was pregnant with a third at the time of termination, she was only under bedrest restrictions for a small percentage of that time. There is no evidence in the record that Mother requested in-home services during her last pregnancy that was ongoing at the time of the termination hearing. In fact, Johnston only refused in-home services for approximately 2 months, a small fraction of the

approximately 32 months N.B. and the 20 months T.B. had been removed from Mother's care as of the last day of the termination hearing.

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